I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


Assignment No.1. The Circuit Court erred by ruling that the statute of limitations provided 

by Virginia law applied to Cavalry's attempts to recover on McGarry's delinquent credit card 

account. 

Assignment No.2. The Circuit Court erred by incorrectly calculating the amount of statutory 

penalties awarded to McGarry. 

Assignment No.3. The Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment to McGarry when 

it could not read the Customer Agreement, which governed the applicable statute of limitations. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

In 2005, respondent Nancy McGarry ("McGarry") opened a credit card account (the 

"Account") with Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. ("Capital One"). (A.R. 210.) McGarry applied 

for the ACCOllilt by signing a Platinum Invitation application sent to her address ill Harpers Ferry, 

West Virginia (A.R. 183.) On the Platinum Invitation application, McGarry placed her 

signature directly below a disclosure that provided: "I have read the IMPORTANT 

DISCLOSURES and Terms and Conditions, including the provision relating to Arbitration, on 

the reverse, and agree to be bound as specified therein." (A.R.183.) The Terms and Conditions 

of the Account were located within the Customer Agreement. (A.R. 181-82.) In the Customer 

Agreement was a section entitled "The Law that Applies to Your Agreement." (A.R.182.) That 

section provided as follows: 

You waive any applicable statute of limitations as the law allows. Otherwise, the 
applicable statute of limitation period for all provisions and purposes under this 
Agreement (including the right to collect debt) will be the longer period provided 
by Virginia or the jurisdiction where you live. If any part of this Agreement is 
found to be unenforceable, the remaining parts will remain in effect. 



(A.R.182.) 


For the next six years, McGarry used the Account to make purchases, and Capital One 

sent her monthly billing statements to reflect her purchases and payments. (A.R. 70-127.) 

Those statements directed McGarry to send her payments to an address in North Carolina (A.R. 

70.) On July 27,2011, she made her last payment on the Account. (A.R. 6, 116,210.) Capital 

One continued to send McGarry billing statements to reflect the amount due and owing to it. 

(A.R. 117-27.) As of the billing statement for the February 10, 2012 through March 9, 2012 

billing cycle, McGarry owed Capital One $6,746.76. (A.R. 3, 127.) On or about March 10, 

2012, Capital One charged off the Account. (A.R.44.) 

Unable to collect the debt due and owing to it, Capital One sold the Account to Cavalry 

on or about September 25, 2014. (A.R. 8, 9, 44.) On September 29, 2014, Cavalry sent 

McGarry a letter explaining that it had purchased the Account from Capital One and that the 

Account had an outstanding balance of $6,746.76. (A.R. 161.) The letter advised McGarry that 

she could dispute the validity of the debt. (A.R.161.) 

B. Procedural Background 

On September 15,2015, Cavalry filed a debt collection complaint against McGarry in the 

Magistrate Court of Jefferson County, West Virginia, seeking to collect on the Account. (A.R. 

1-2.) In the complaint, Cavalry sought recovery of $6,746.76 - the balance on the Account at 

the time McGarry made her last payment in 2011 - plus costs. (A.R.I-2.) Cavalry attached to 

the complaint billing statements from Capital One to McGarry for the February 10,2012 through 

March 9,2012 billing cycle and the July 10,2011 through August 9, 2011 billing cycle. (A.R.3

4,6-7.) 
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On February 25, 2016, McGarry filed an Answer to the complaint and asserted 

counterclaims against Cavalry. (A.R. 10-15.) McGarry's counterclaims alleged that Cavalry 

had violated multiple provisions of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCP A") and the 

West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("WVCCPA") by attempting to collect on a 

time-barred debt. (A.R. 10-15./ Specifically, McGarry claimed that the latest Cavalry could 

have filed a lawsuit against her was July 27,2014, three years after the date of her last payment 

to Capital One on July 27, 2011. (A.R. 11-12l She sought statutory penalties under the 

WVCCPA and the FDCPA, actual damages for past and future violations of the WVCCPA, 

special and general damages to be proven at trial, attorneys' fees and costs, and pre- and post

judgment interest. (A.R. 14-15.) McGarry also demanded a jury trial. (A.R. 15.) 

In April 2016, McGarry served Cavalry with requests for production of documents, and 

Cavalry responded. (A.R. 177-80.) In Cavalry's responses to McGarry's discovery requests, it 

attached the Customer Agreement. (A.R.181-82.) 

Cavalry moved for summary judgement on May 20, 2016. (A.R. 22.) In its opening 

brief supporting that motion, Cavalry maintained that McGarry had incurred a debt on the 

Account, McGarry defaulted on that Account, and Cavalry sought to recover on the delinquent 

Account within the applicable five-year statute of limitations under West Virginia Code § 55-2

6. (A.R. 23-30.) 

1 McGarry's counterclaims alleged a violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-128(f), which requires a debt collector to 
advise a consumer that legal enforcement of a debt is time-barred, and also alleged that Cavalry engaged in unfair or 
deceptive acts and practices, in contravention of the WVCCP A. McGarry further alleged that Cavalry 
misrepresented the character of its claim against her, in contravention of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA 
and W. Va. Code § 46A-2-127(d) of the WVCCPA. (A.R.12-14.) 

2 McGarry later claimed that a four-year statute of limitations applied to any attempt by Cavalry to legally enforce a 
claim on the Account. (A.R. 12.) This is likely the result of a typographical error. 
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McGarry opposed Cavalry's motion and also filed a cross-motion for partial summary 

judgment. (A.R. 128-38.) In her cross-motion, McGarry denied the existence of a signed 

agreement between McGarry and Capital One. (A.R. 128.) Absent such an agreement, McGarry 

contended that West Virginia's borrowing statute commanded the lower court to apply either 

Virginia's or North Carolina's applicable statute of limitations, as opposed to West Virginia 

(A.R. 130-33 (citing W. Va. Code § 55-2A-2).)3 Under the three-year statute of limitations for 

unwritten contracts in Virginia or North Carolina, McGarry argued, the Account was time

barred, and Cavalry's attempt to collect on the Account by filing a suit against McGarry violated 

the WVCCPA and the FDCPA. (A.R. 133-37.) For the first time, McGarry also claimed that 

Cavalry sent a collection letter to McGarry dated September 29,2014, and alleged that the letter 

failed to disclose that Cavalry could not sue McGarry on the Account or report the Account to a 

credit reporting agency, in violation of the WVCCPA. (A.R. 130, 136.) Seeking partial 

summary judgment as to Cavalry's liability only, McGarry urged the court to reserve any 

determination of damages for trial by jury. (A.R. 137.) 

In its reply brief, Cavalry disagreed with McGarry's contention that the lower court must 

apply the borrowing statute. (A.R. 146-49.) Rather, Cavalry argued that the Court could not 

apply the borrowing statute because it would "alter the clear meaning and intent of the parties as 

expressed in unambiguous language as found within a contract" - namely the Customer 

Agreement. (A.R. 147 (citing Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel: 147 W. Va. 484, 490-94, 128 

S.E.2d 626,631-34 (1962).) Cavalry then set forth the language in the Customer Agreement that 

governed the applicable statute of limitations: 

3 The borrowing statute provides that the "period of limitation applicable to a claim accruing outside of this State 
shall be either that prescribed by the law of the place where the claim accrued or by the law of this State, whichever 
bars the claim." W. Va. Code § 55-2A-2. Under both Virginia law and North Carolina law, the statute of 
limitations for unwritten, implied contracts is three years. See Va. Code Ann. § 8.01-246(4); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-52. 
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You waive any applicable statute of limitations as the law allows. Otherwise, the 
applicable statute of limitations period for all provisions and purposes under this 
Agreement (including the right to collect debt) will be the longer period 
provided by Virginia or the jurisdiction where you live (emphasis added). If 
any part of this Agreement is found to be lmenforceable, the remaining parts will 
remain in effect. 

(A.R. 147.) Because the statute of limitations to enforce an implied contract in Virginia is three 

years, West Virginia law - the longer of the two states' statute of limitations - applied. (A.R. 

148.) Under the five year statute of limitations provided by West Virginia law, Cavalry 

explained, both the September 29,2014 collection letter to McGarry and the September 25,2015 

debt collection suit filed by Cavalry against McGarry were timely. (A.R.148.) 

The lower court held a pre-trial hearing on July 11,2016, at which time the parties argued 

their respective motions for summary judgment. (A.R. 185-208.) At the hearing, Cavalry again 

explained that Capital One and McGarry had made an agreement regarding the time period to 

enforce the Account. 

When we look to the terms and conditions ..., it says that you waive any 
applicable statute of limitations as the law allows otherwise the applicable statute 
of limitations period for all provisions of the purposes under this agreement 
including the right to collect a debt will be the longer period provided by Virginia 
or the jurisdiction in which you live which is West Virginia. That provides for the 
five-year statute of limitations. 

(A.R. 194-95.) Nonetheless, the lower court denied Cavalry's motion for summary judgment 

and granted McGarry's cross-motion. (A.R. 206.) In reaching that conclusion, the lower court 

explained that Cavalry had failed to offer evidence of a written contract between McGarry and 

Capital One/Cavalry. (A.R. 205.) 

The [Platinum Invitation] does seem to reference some sort of an agreement but it 
would fail to show on its face a complete and concluded agreement between the 
parties which I think would be necessary to invoke the longer statute of limitation. 

I think that by failing to comply with the written requirements under Virginia law 
then I think it becomes an unwritten contract and I think that thereby it's subject 
to Virginia's three-year statute oflimitations and is therefore time-barred. 
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(A.R.205-06.) The court further indicated that damages would be awarded at trial, but McGarry 

agreed to waive her claims for actual damages and accept the statutory penalties provided for by 

the WVCCPA and the FDCPA. (A.R. 206.) 

C. The Circuit Court's Order Granting McGarry Summary Judgment. 

On August 1, 2016, the circuit court entered an order awarding McGarry summary 

judgment (the "Order"). (A.R. 209-17.) In reaching that decision, the court reasoned that 

West Virginia's borrowing statute, West Virginia Code § 55-2A-2, governed the applicable 

statute of limitations. (A.R. 211-13.) The circuit court explained that West Virginia's five-year 

statute of limitations for unwritten contracts was longer than the three-year limitations period in 

Virginia - where Capital One maintained its principal place of business - and North Carolina 

- where McGarry was directed to mail her payments to Capital One. (A.R. 212-13.) 

Accordingly, under the borrowing statute, Cavalry had three years to enforce its collection on the 

Account through the legal system. (A.R. 213.) 

Notably, the circuit court awarded McGarry summary judgment without considering the 

language set forth in the Customer Agreement. The Court explained: 

Calvary [sic] has not produced a signed written agreement evidencing all of the 
terms of a contract between Capital One Bank and McGarry. Instead, Calvary 
[sic] points to an eighteen-page document that it provided in discovery as 
evidence of a written agreement. The document appears to be 18 pages long, but 
it was produced in a shrunken form on two pages. There are no signatures, and 
the words on the document are not generally legible. The only docunlent Calvary 
[sic] has produced that is purportedly signed by McGarry is titled "Platinum 
Invitation." Calvary [sic] admits that the I8-page document was not attached to 
the invitation nor does it contain any language that indicates that it is a credit card 
agreement. This writing contains no statement specifying a particular statute of 
limitations, and Calvary [sic] was unable to present an argument or a fact to make 
this an issue. Even assuming that McGarry signed the platinum invitation, it 
proves nothing. 
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(A.R.212.) The Court emphasized that it could not read the Customer Agreement at least two 

additional times. (A.R. 212 ("The putative agreement is not signed by either party, nor is [sic] 

the terms legible.") and 216, n.2 ("Although Calvary [sic] represented what is in the contents of 

the document, the Court is unable to read the 18 page document that has been shrunken down to 

two pages.").) 

Applying a three-year statute of limitations to Cavalry's claims against McGarry, the 

circuit court determined that Cavalry's collection attempts had violated federal and state law. 

First, the court explained that Cavalry violated the FDCPA by sending the September 29, 2014 

letter without notice that the debt was time-barred and by filing the debt collection complaint. 

(A.R. 213-14.) The Court awarded McGarry $1,000 in statutory penalties under the FDCPA. 

(A.R. 216.) Next, the court concluded that Cavalry also violated the WVCCPA. Specifically, 

the lower court observed that the September 29,2014 letter did not contain a required disclosure 

that Cavalry was time-barred from enforcing collection on the Account, in contravention of 

West Virginia Code § 46A-2-128(f). (A.R.215.) Likewise, the court determined that Cavalry's 

act of filing a debt collection complaint against McGarry violated the WV CCP A by: (1) failing 

to advise McGarry that it was time-barred from collecting on the Account, in violation of 

West Virginia Code § 46A-2-128(f); (2) using unfair and unconscionable means to collect a debt 

by filing the complaint, in contravention of West Virginia Code § 46A-2-128; and 

(3) misrepresenting the character of the claim in the complaint against McGarry by suggesting 

that a claim could be filed, in violation of West Virginia Code § 46A-2-127(d). (A.R.215.) The 

lower court awarded McGarry "$1000 each for each of the four violations of the WVCCPA." 

(A.R. 216.) 
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III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Cavalry's attempts to recover on a delinquent credit card account incurred by McGarry 

were timely. The statute of limitations applicable to this suit is governed by the Terms and 

Conditions of a Customer Agreement that McGarry agreed to be bound by when she applied for 

the credit card from Capital One. Upon her use of that credit card - for which she has been 

indebted for $6,746.76 since 2011 - the terms of the Customer Agreement became effective. 

Those Terms and Conditions explicitly provide that McGarry waives the statute of limitations or, 

otherwise, that West Virginia law applies. 

Although Cavalry produced the Customer Agreement in discovery, expressly set forth the 

relevant statute of limitations language in Its summary judgment briefing, attached the Customer 

Agreement as an exhibit to that briefmg, and then recited nearly verbatim the relevant language 

from the Customer Agreement at a hearing on the summary judgment motion, the lower court 

never mentioned the relevant language in its Order. The statute of limitations language should 

have been considered by the lower court, as the statute of limitations is the crux of McGarry's 

defenses to Cavalry's claims against McGarry and McGarry's counterclaims against Cavalry. 

Importantly, the September 29, 2014 letter to McGarry and the September 25, 2015 debt 

collection complaint against McGarry both fell within the statute of limitations provided by 

West Virginia law. 

Furthermore, the lower court erroneously calculated the amount of statutory penalties to 

award McGarry under the WVCCPA. Specifically, the court awarded McGarry $4,000 for 

engaging in two acts only: (1) sending a debt collection letter to McGarry without providing 

notice that the Account could not be legally enforced; and (2) seeking to collect on the Account 

by filing a complaint against McGarry. Regardless of the number ofprovisions of the WVCCPA 
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that McGarry's acts could have violated, the WVCCPA provides only one penalty - or $1,000 

-per act. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is necessary in this matter because the criteria outlined in Rule 18(a) of the 

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure do not render oral argument unnecessary: No party 

has waived oral argument; this appeal is not frivolous; the parties disagree as to whether the 

dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, and this Court's decisional process would 

be significantly aided from oral argument. 

Oral argument should be held pursuant to Rule 19 because the decision in this case was 

against the weight of the evidence. Cavalry submitted a Customer Agreement that governed the 

statute of limitations applicable to its attempt to collect on a delinquent credit card account. 

Specifically, per the Customer Agreement, McGarry agreed to either waive the statute of 

limitations or have the statute of limitations under West Virginia law apply to any att~mpts to 

collect on the Account. Nonetheless, the circuit court declined to consider the Customer 

Agreement when it detennined that Virginia's statute of limitations applied. Furthennore, a 

memorandum decision is not appropriate for this case because, under Rule 21 (d), memorandum 

decisions are only used to reverse decisions under "limited circumstances." 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Jurisdiction 

"A party to a civil action may appeal to the supreme court of appeals from a fmal 

judgment of any circuit court[.]" W. Va. Code § 58-5-1. An order is final for the purpose of 58

5-1 "only when it tenninates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case and 

leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined." Syl. pt. 3, 
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James MB. v. Carolyn M, 193 W. Va. 289, 291, 456 S.E.2d 16, 18 (1995). Although McGarry 

styled her cross-motion as a motion for partial summary judgment as to liability only, at the pre

trial hearing she advised the lower court that she waived her request for actual damages and 

asked the court to award statutory penalties only. By its Order of August 1, 2016, the lower 

court issued its opinion on Cavalry's liability and awarded McGarry statutory penalties. Thus, 

this Court has jurisdiction over this appeal. 

B. 	 Standard of Review 

A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 190,451 S.E.2d 755, 756 (1994). This Court is mindful that a "motion 

for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of 

fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the 

law." Syl. pt. 3, Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Fed Ins. Co. ofNew York, 148 W. Va. 160, 160, 133 

S.E.2d 770, 771 (1963). If the record taken as a whole cannot lead a rational trier of fact to find 

for the nonmoving party, summary judgment must be granted. Parker v. Estate ofBealer, 221 

W. Va. 684,687,656 S.E.2d 129, 132 (2007) (citing Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 

52,459 S.E.2d 329 (1995». 

C. 	 The Circuit Court erred by ruling that the statute of limitations for unwritten 
contracts provided by Virginia law applied to Cavalry's attempts to recover on 
McGarry's delinquent credit card account. 

The lower court declined to apply West Virginia's statute of limitations to this case 

because it relied on West Virginia's borrowing statute, which provides that, for claims accruing 

outside of West Virginia, the shorter statute of limitations period between the foreign state law 

and West Virginia law applies. See W. Va. Code § 55-2A-2. The lower court concluded that ¢.e 

claim accrued in Virginia, and, therefore, applied Virginia's law on the statute of limitations. It 
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should never have reached that issue, however, because the parties expressly addressed the 

applicable statute of limitations issues in their Customer Agreement. 

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has recognized that ''the freedom to 

contract is a substantial public policy that should not be lightly dismissed." Wellington Power 

Corp. v. CNA Sur. Corp., 217 W. Va. 33, 38, 614 S.E.2d 680, 685 (2005). Importantly, this 

Court has determined that "a contract shall be enforced except when it violates a principle of 

even greater importance to the general public." Id. Under the freedom to contract doctrine 

recognized by this Court, McGarry waived her right to enforce any state's statute oflimitations 

as it applied to her credit card account. Specifically, on July 29, 2005, McGarry signed a 

"Platinum Invitation" for the Capital One credit card account, wherein she acknowledged that

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