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

consideration at the summary judgment stage needs to be established. Ordinarily, 

'[u]nswom and unverified documents are not of sufficient evidentiary quality to be 

given weight in determining whether to grant a motion for summary judgment. '" Id. 
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C. The Circuit Court correctly applied the Virginia Statute of 

Limitations. 

The primary issue in both the denial of Cavalry's motion for summary 

judgment and the granting of McGarry's cross motion for summary judgment is 

which statute of limitations applies. Cavalry argues that the statute of limitation is 

set by contract but has never produced that contract. 

1. Cavalry failed to prove the existence of a written agreement between 
Capital One and McGarry. 

Any debt buyerl like Cavalry runs the risk that it may not be able to prove a 

debt with the materials it purchased from the seller. That appears to be the case 

here. Cavalry claims that McGarry agreed to "term and conditions" of a credit card 

account. The problem with the proposition is that there is no proof that McGarry 

agreed to the terms Cavalry alleges to prove the alleged agreement. Cavalry cites a 

"Platinum Invitation" and points to a signature, but cannot point to how that 

"Invitation" turned into specific terms and conditions including a choice of law 

provision relating to statutes of limitations. Cavalry provided a document in 

discovery that purports to describe the terms and conditions; however the document 

1 The D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals described debt buyers: "To recoup a portion of its lost 
investment, an originating lender may sell a charged-off consumer loan to a Debt Buyer, 
usually as part of a portfolio of delinquent consumer loans, for a fraction of the total 
amount owed to the originating lender. * * * Once a Debt Buyer has purchased a portfolio 
of defaulted consumer loans, it may engage in collection efforts (or hire a third-party to do 
so), which may include locating borrowers, detennining whether borrowers are in 
bankruptcy, commencing legal proceedings, or "otherwise encouraging" payment of all or a 
portion of the delinquency. 
Debt Buyers' Assn. v. Snow, 481 F. Supp.2d 1,4 (D.D.C. 2006), (quoting a memorandum 
filed in the case). 
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it provided is, as the circuit court noted, illegible. More importantly, the document 

is unauthenticated. While this might have been the terms of a Capital One credit 

card at some point, Cavalry did nothing to establish whether these were the terms at 

the time McGarry received the credit card in 2005, when she allegedly defaulted in 

2011 or today. 

Cavalry has not proven, by even a minimal standard, what Ms. McGarry 

supposedly agreed to. It points to the unauthenticated document called a Platinum 

Invitation and claims that because McGarry signed it, she therefore must have 

agreed to any document that Cavalry points to. This is patently ridiculous. Cavalry 

cannot even provide the opposite side of the "invitation", which is referenced on the 

front side, much less an authenticated and legible copy of the agreement Ms. 

McGarry mayor may not have entered into in 2005 with Capital One. 

Cavalry did not authenticate the document or provide any evidence that the 

alleged "terms and conditions" was something to which McGarry had agreed. At 

the hearing, counsel for Cavalry admitted that the document was not something that 

McGarry even signed: 

THE COURT: Wait a minute, but I'm confused here. You are saying that the 
terms that you refer to, which either specified Virginia or the state of the 
debtor's residence, whichever is greater, that is language which appears on 
the document she signed? 

MS. BINNS-DAVIS: When she signed this document she agreed to be bound 
by those terms and conditions. 
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THE COURT: So those terms and conditions appear in the document that she 
signed you are saying? Mr. Skinner says that it's some sort of fugitive 
document that's hearsay. He doesn't know where it came from. It has not 
been vouched for or authenticated and it is somehow separate and distinct 
from this signed invitation. You are saying it's part of the signed invitation. 

MS. BINNS-DAVIS: By her signature on that she agreed to be bound by that 
thereby making it part of the invitation. 

THE COURT: So she signed the document that has those very terms? 

MS. BINNS-DAVIS: No, I'm sorry. She signed'the document which she 

agreed to be bound by those tenns. 

THE COURT: Those terms which were specifically laid out in the document 
that she signed? 

MS. BINNS-DAVIS: No, the terms regarding the statute o/limitations were 
not on the document she signed. 

CAR 201, lines 8 through 202, 10) Cemphasis added). 

The Court then questioned whether the agreement was provided with the 

document that McGarry did sign and whether Cavalry had a witness to indicate as 

much. Ms. Binn-Davis: responded: "We do have witnesses who will appear at trial. 

I don't have an affidavit from them for today's purposes ... " CAR 203, 5-7). Counsel 

for Ms. McGarry objected to the consideration of the alleged agreement because it 

was illegible, hearsay and not authenticated in any way. CAR 197,11-20). Cavalry 

has never addressed this issue. 

Moreover, the document that contains the alleged terms and conditions 

between the parties is objectively illegible. CAR 181). This is no small matter. 
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Cavalry quotes the document as ifit is legible and claims that "[Cavalry's] Counsel 

recited nearly verbatim the provision of the Customer Agreement." This is a 

misstatement: counsel for Cavalry did not read the agreement at the circuit court 

hearing, she read from Cavalry's reply in opposition to the cross motion which 

purports to contain the words of the agreement.2 (AR 146). Even Cavalry hedges 

its own commitment to the terms contained in the agreement by saying its recitation 

was "nearly" verbatim. How can one even compare the words ofCavalry's counsel 

to the document to see if it was nearly verbatim when there is no legible document 

to examine? The circuit court had nothing but Cavalry's counsel's assurance that 

these terms and conditions were a part of the agreement between Capital One and 

McGarry. 

Cavalry claims that circuit court "should have directed Cavalry to submit a 

different copy of the Agreement or look to any collateral evidence about the terms 

ofthat Agreement." (Petitioner's Brief 16). It was Cavalry who flrst flIed the 

motion for summary judgment. It was not defending against a summary judgment 

motion. This assertion that the Court had some type of obligation to flnd better 

evidence than what Cavalry presented it is not only unusual, it's without basis in the 

law. The burden is on the litigant in an adversarial system. 

The alleged agreement between the parties does not meet the standard 

necessary for summary judgment. Petitioner presented its motion for summary 

2 It is worth noting that the Petitioner's Reply and Objection was less than four pages long and did 
not attach affidavits or other evidence of the source of the illegible document. 
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judgment with documents attached but no affidavits. None of the documents were 

authenticated by affidavit. West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f) s requires: 

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, 
shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show 
affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated 
therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in 
an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may 
permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to 
interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment 
is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest 
upon the mere allegations or denials ofthe adverse party's pleading, but the 
adverse party's response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, 
must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If 
the adverse party does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, 
shall be entered against the adverse party. 

Cavalry does "not meet the standard required by the Rules. Cavalry rested on 

'mere allegations' and denials and summary judgment for McGarry is appropriate. 

2. The Circuit Court did not err in disregarding the illegible, 
unauthenticated document. 

Cavalry cites the case of Yellow Book Sales & Distrib. Co., Inc. v. TK 

Plumbing Servs., Inc., 2011-0hio-2518, ~ 7 (Ct. App.) for the idea that it does not 

have a responsibility to provide legible authenticated proof to the court. Citing 

Yellow Book Cavalry claims, 

At the very least, the trial court should not have disregarded the only 
evidence before it on the issue and granted summary judgment for the 
opposing party and summarizing the case as "explaining that summary 
judgment was precluded where the "the entire dispute between the parties 
concerns in what capacity appellant signed the contract, [and] the illegible 
language .... is crucial to resolving the contract." 

(Petitioner's Brief 16). 
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The case actually supports McGarry's position. In Yellow Book, the 

proponent of the illegible contract won summary judgment in the trial court. The 

appellate court reversed because the illegible contract was the basis of the granting 

of summary judgment by the court below. In other words, the Court explicitly 

disapproved of the use of the illegible contract. In the instant case, Yellow Book is 

consistent with the Circuit Court's order. If Cavalry could produce and authenticate 

an actual agreement between McGarry and Cavalry, it would be highly relevant. 

However, since it cannot, then it cannot be considered. 

3. Without a written agreement, the analysis of the statute of limitations 
points towards a Virginia or North Carolina statute of limitation. 

Without an executed contract between the parties, the analysis should begin 

with West Virginia's borrowing statute. The "borrowing statute" W.Va. Code § 55

2A-2, states, ''the period of limitation applicable to a claim accruing outside of this 

State shall be either that prescribed by the law ofthe place where the claim accrued 

or by the law of this State, whichever bars the claim." The West Virginia Supreme 

Court has recognized that "W. Va. Code, 55-2A-2, provides that where a claim 

accrues beyond state boundaries, the shorter limitation, West Virginia's or the 

foreign limitation, shall govern such action." Oakley v. Wagner, 189 W. Va. 337, 

340,431 S.E.2d 676,679 (1993). The Court has declared that "[t]he spirit ofW. Va. 

Code, 55-2A-2 [1959] clearly favors the extinguishment of the claim." Hayes v. 

Roberts & Schaefer Co., 192 W. Va. 368, 371, 452 S.E.2d 459,462 (1994). 
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As an initial undertaking, there must be a determination as to where the claim 

accrued. West Virginia uses the "To Pay" Doctrine: as a general rule the cause of 

action for a breach of contract to pay money arises at the residence in which the 

creditor resides at the time ofthe breach, for the debtor, unless it is otherwise 

provided, must, in order to make payment, seek the creditor. Harvey v. Parkersburg 

Ins. Co., 37 W. Va. 272, 16 S.E. 580 (1892); Conservative Life Ins. Co. v. 

Alexander, 114 W. Va. 451, 172 S.E. 520 (1933); Iacuone v. Pietranton, 138 W. Va. 

776, 77 S.E.2d 884 (1953); Russell v. Pineview Realty, Inc., 165 W. Va. 822,272 

S.E.2d 241 (1980). 

The only evidence in this case that suggestion where the claim accrued are 

the billing statements, including importantly, the billing statement for the billing 

cycle July 2011, attached to the Cavalry's Complaint directs the McGarry to make 

payment to the original creditor in Charlotte, North Carolina. That document also 

shows that the last alleged payment on the account was July 27, 2011. 

Analyzing this case under to the "to pay" doctrine, the alleged breach of the 

debt obligation occurred in the original creditor's state of residence, Virginia, or 

where the original creditor directed the debtor to make payment, in North Carolina, 

since the debtor was obligated to "seek the creditor" to make payment to it. Thus, 

pursuant to the "to pay" doctrine, Cavalry's alleged claim against the Respondent 

for failure to pay a debt accrued where the creditor's principal place ofbusiness is 

located, in Virginia, or where the creditor directed the Respondent to make payment, 
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in Charlotte, North Carolina. The statute of limitations in Virginia to enforce an 

unsigned, oral or implied contract for a debt is 3 years. Va. Code Ann. § 8.01

246(4) (1977)("In actions upon any unwritten contract, express or implied, within 

three years.") The statute oflimitations in North Carolina to enforce an express or 

implied contract for a debt is 3 years. N.C.G.S.A. § 1-52 (2014). Whether the 

North Carolina or the Virginia statute of limitations applies to Petitioner's claim, the 

claim is time barred. Since the last payment was in July 2011- the last possible time 

the Petitioner could sue would have been July 2014. Since Cavalry's Complaint 

was filed on or about September 15,2015, over four years and one month after the 

last alleged payment to the account, the statute of limitations had run. In fact, 

Cavalry actually purchased the debt after the statute of limitations had run. (AR 69). 

There are several cases on point. In Conway v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., 

L.L.C., 13 F. Supp.3d 711 (E.D.Ky. 2014), the court, in applying Kentucky's 

borrowing statute, held that the credit card issuer's breach-of-contract claim against 

a Kentucky-resident cardholder accrued in Virginia, the location where the bank, 

Capital One, should have received payment. The court sought to identify where "the 

injurious consequences of the alleged wrongful conduct occurred." Id. at 718 

(quoting Abel v. Austin, 411 S.W.3d 728, 737 (Ky. 2013)). The court pointed out 

the impracticality ofusing the location where the cardholder made the decision to 

not make his payment as the place of the accrual ofthe action: 

Presumably, Capital One has similar agreements with multiple customers in 
multiple locations, but receives payments from those customers at one central 
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location. It would be impossible for Capital One to know where any of those 
customers happen to be when they decide not to pay. Rather, as a practical 
matter, the only way Capital One can determine a customer is in default is 
when payment is not received at the central location in Virginia by a certain 
date. 

Conway, 13 F. Supp.3d at 720-721. The court concluded that "[b]ecause the due 

date passing without payment being received was the final event that allowed 

Capital One's cause of action to accrue, and was also the event that actually resulted 

in damages to Capital One, the breach must have occurred when and where payment 

was not received, which in this case was Virginia." Id. at 719. 

Additionally, in Taylor v. First Resolution Inv. Corp., No. 2013-0118, 2016 

Ohio LEXIS 1654 (Ohio June 16,2016), the Ohio Supreme Court agreed that 

Ohio's borrowing statute required application of the statute of limitations of 

Delaware, the location of the original credit card company. In Hamid v. Stock & 

Grimes, L.L.P., No. 11-2349,2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96245 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 26, 

2011), ~e court determined that Pennsylvania's borrowing statute required an 

application ofDelaware's statute of limitations because the cause of action for 

nonpayment on a credit card accrued in Delaware, where the bank failed to receive 

payment. 

4. The issue of whether the trial court correctly calculated damages 
is not appropriately before this Court, because it was not raised below. 

The Petitioner asserts that the trial court erred in awarding the Respondent 

four $1000 penalties under the WVCCP A and one under the FDCP A for a total of 

$5000 in statutory damages. Cavalry complains that the statutory damages should 
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have only totaled $3000 and not $5000. However, Cavalry did not address the 

damages issues in its response to the cross motion for summary judgment for the 

circuit court to consider and then failed to raise the issue at the hearing where the 

summary judgment motions were heard. 

This Court's general rule is that, "absent the most extraordinary 

circumstances, legal theories not raised properly in the lower court cannot be 

broached for the fIrst time on appeal." State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 597,476 

S.E.2d 535,544 (1996); see also Breza v. Ohio County Bd. ofEduc., 201 W. Va. 

398,400 fn. 3, 497 S.E.2d 548, 550 fn. 3 (1997) (declining to address affIrmative 

defense not asserted before circuit court on appeal) (citing Whitlow v. Bd. ofEduc. 

ofKanawha County, 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993) ("facts 

underlying ... [ an] issue will not have been developed in such a way so that a 

disposition can be made on appeal")); McGlinchey v. Frye, No. 11-0591,2011 W. 

Va. LEXIS 516, 12 fn. 6 (W. Va. Nov. 10,2011) (refusing to discuss various 

arguments not raised below in the fIrst instance on appeal.) The rule that errors 

assigned for the fIrst time in an appellate court will not be regarded has been 

invoked "with a near religious fervor" and "cannot be dismissed lightly as a mere

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